No. 89546-5

(Court of Appeals No. 681630)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANNE BLOCK,

Petitioner

v.

CITY OF GOLD BAR,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Anne K. Block, *Pro Se*Attorney at Law
115 ³/₄ West Main St.,
Block Litigation, Suite 209
Monroe, WA 98272
Tele: 206-326-9933

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. Introduction
2. Factual and Procedural History
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED
1. Overview
2. The Block Court Virtually Rewrote Court Rule 45 When It Held that a CR 45 Subpoena can be Served Electronically Instead of Comporting with CR 45 provisions which Mandates Physical Service
3. Affirmation of Key Principles of Due Process Requirements Must be Enforced by this Court in Civil Matters
F. CONCLUSION12

Table of Authorities

Court Cases

<u>Limstrom v. Ladenburg</u> , 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998)11	
In Re Marriage of Mahalingham, 21 Wn. App. 228, 584 P.2d 971 (1978)5	
<u>In re Moseley</u> , 34 Wn.App. 179, 660 P.2d 315 (1983)5	
Newman v. King County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570, 947 P.2d 712 (1997)11 *	
<u>PAWS</u> , 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)11	
Reilly v. State, 18 Wn.App. 245, 253, 566 P.2d 1283 (1977)5	
Statutes	
RCW 42.56Passim	
RCW 42.17.25111	
WA CR 45Passim	
Constitutions of Washington State and United States	
WA Const. Art 1, § 3	
U.S. Const. amend. XIV	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Anne Block moves this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Block v. Gold Bar*, _____ Wash. App. Div. I _____ See Appendix A.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Block v. Gold Bar decision allows an agency to hold Ex-Parte hearings without providing notice and meaningful opportunity to be heard, rewrites Washington State Court Rule 45, and places the burden on the requester, and violates basic provisions of the 14th Amendment to United States Constitution.

Block v. Gold Bar was filed on November 6, 2011. The Respondent files this timely motion for discretionary review. Appendix B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that a CR 45 Subpoena can be Served Electronically and Does Not Have to Comport to Washington State Court Rule 45 mandating a subpoena must be physically served?
- 2. Whether a Court that Receives a Notice of Unavailability prior to An Agency Filing a Motion to Compel Must Afford a Citizen with Notice and a Meaningful Opportunity to Be Heard?
- 3. Whether an agency must provide a requester with notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to any hearing?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction

Basic constitutional principles are at stake in this case and are not only necessary to a sustain a free democratic and open government here in . Washington but are basic fundamental guaranteed rights secured under Washington and the United States Constitutions: (1) the fundamental right of the public to know the workings of their government through public records requests made under the Public Disclosure Act, RCW 42.17.250, et seq.,; and (2) the right of a citizen to be afforded notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to any judgment entered into the record. This case reflects the ongoing struggle between a Washington citizen who sought access to public records pursuant to RCW 42.56, and the agency's long history of attacking a citizen instead of disclosing records it alone possesses, maintains, and controls.

This Petition assumes, but does not require, familiarity with the descriptions of the history of this case which appear in the Briefs on the merits. This is based on Petitioner's understanding that, under the Court's current practice, any Justice reviewing this Petition will have access to the Briefs.

Washington State's Const. mandates due process of law, which guarantees a citizen a right to be provided notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard. It is a two pronged-analysis. Accordingly, this High Court should examine the following issues: (1) whether or not a citizen who must be afforded notice of a hearing and a meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to deprivation of life, liberty or property pursuant to the 14th Amendment and WA Const. Art 1, § 3.; (2) whether a citizen's fundamental due process rights were violated when an agency served a CR 45 subpoena electronically instead of pursuant to CR 45 which mandates physical service; (3) Whether or not an agency can have a Motion to Compel heard only after a citizen files a Notice of Unavailability of Record; (4) Whether or not a judgment entered without notice and an opportunity to be heard must be void; and (5) Whether a Motion to Strike Pursuant to Washington State's Anti-SLAPP Legislation can be heard regardless of when in the process filed.

In this case, the evidence clearly documented that Petitioner Block filed a Notice of Unavailability with the trial court and Gold Bar's City attorney Margaret King (King). But instead of candid professional conduct, City of Gold Bar's attorney King used Block's father's terminal state as an opportunity to file what amounts to a Strategic Suit Against Public Participation (SLAPP) mainly because the public records request

Petitioner Block sought records which would have exposed the City's law firm was billing the taxpayers of Gold Bar for services rendered to a non-client, Eastside Computers. King refused to produce Gold Bar's IT contractor Eastside Computers for deposition, claiming that he was not her witness but then later noted in a letter in another matter that Eastside was her witness. Eastside is the City of Gold Bar's contractor who collected and sorted the City's public records for the last four years. The City of Gold Bar and Kenyon Disend as of today has refused to release public records relating to King's representation of Eastside Computers, in violation of RCW 42.56.

2. Factual and Procedural History

Pro Se Petitioner Anne Block is a resident of and pays taxes in the City of Gold Bar, located in Snohomish County, Washington. Petitioner Block sent a public records request to the City of Gold Bar seeking access to records implicating the City's law firm in using taxpayer monies to assist a non-client, Eastside Computers (Eastside). Instead of the City producing Eastside for deposition when noted, the City's attorney King appeared at deposition and refused to bring her witness, Eastside. King's law firm of Kenyon Disend then billed the taxpayers of Gold Bar (which also includes Petitioner), for services rendered to Eastside.

At the time relevant to Petitioner's suit, the City of Gold Bar had a

city paralegal clerk, Penny Brenton (Brenton). Brenton who was ordered to write a WSBA complaint against Petitioner by Gold Bar's Mayor Joe Beavers (Beavers) and former Gold Bar council member Dorothy Croshaw affirmed on the WSBA complaint that it was hers. Brenton then used Gold Bar resources, such as computers and email communication, to monitor its deposition and actively informed King. The WSBA dismissed the complaint and Brenton has agreed to testify against the City in Petitioner Block's 42 U.S.C. §1983 complaint which will more than likely be filed prior to this Court's Review.

Although 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is a permissible statute for which a ... Petitioner such as Block can utilize when her civil rights have been violated, it does not turn back the gross deprivation of Petitioner Block's constitutional right to be provided notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to any judgment being entered into the record.; In Re Marriage of Mahalingham, 21 Wn.App. 228, 584 P.2d 971 (1978); Reilly v. State, 18 Wn.App. 245, 253, 566 P.2d 1283 (1977). Right to notice is an essential requirement of due process that applies in civil cases as well as criminal proceedings. *See* U.S. Const. Amend.14. Notice, open testimony, time to prepare and respond to charges, *and* meaningful hearing before competent tribunal in orderly proceeding are all elements of civil due process. *See* WA Const. Art 1, § 3; US Const.; In re Moseley, 34 Wn.App.

179, 660 P.2d 315 (1983).

Petitioner, as a taxpayer and a resident of Gold Bar has a constitutionally protected right to access all public records paid for with Petitioner's tax revenue. This includes email communication between a non-client Eastside and the City's law firm.

In weeks after filing a suit seeking access to public records, early November 2011, involving what Petitioner perceives to be unethical conduct on the part of King, Petitioner's life was threatened, threats to burn crosses on her front lawn, dead animals had been left on her front door step, and she was just informed that her father was terminal and not expected to live much longer. Petitioner is also a solo practitioner who assists sick Department of Energy workers throughout the United States. The above factors resulted in two Notices of Unavailability filed with the trial court and to Kenyon Disend's attorney King. All Notices of Unavailability were filed *prior to* King's CR 45 subpoena and all before any subsequent and relevant motions in this case.

In November 2011, Gold Bar council member Chuck Lie (Lie), told Petitioner that Beavers and King were planning to "aggressively attack you!" Within two days of Beavers threatening Petitioner to Lie, King attempted to physically serve Petitioner with a CR 45 subpoena at her house while Block was out of the area. After being unsuccessful in

physically serving a CR 45 subpoena, King then sent Petitioner an email with a CR 45 subpoena setting a deposition for four business days later alleging that Petitioner agreed to electronic service. CR 45 subpoenas must be physically served *and* require a minimum of a five day notice. Disgusted that his tax money was being used to attack a citizen who simply requests public records, Lie resigned from the Gold Bar council in early January 2012 and has agreed to testify against the City in Petitioner's civil rights suit.

Only after Petitioner noted that she would be unavailable did King then file a Motion to Compel Petitioner's testimony in a public records case and then failed to provide notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard in violation of Petitioner's due process rights guaranteed by the 14th Amendment and WA Const. Art 1, § 3. Petitioner's father died on February 13, 2012.

Facts in this case clearly document that the City's Motion to Compel Petitioner's testimony occurred *only after* Petitioner Block informed the City and its attorney King through court filings of Notice of Unavailability that her father was terminal and she would not be back in Washington State until January 7, 2012. The City and its law firm continue as of today to withhold responsive records which relate to this case as well as the two WSBA complaints it participated in. Instead of the

City and its law firm complying with basic open government principles, King and Beavers decided the best way to handle a public records requester was to file motions only after being notified that Petitioner would be out of state visiting her terminal father, or as council member Chuck Lie stated "aggressively attack a concerned citizen" who simply requested records pursuant to RCW 42.56. Public records request sought pursuant to RCW 42.56 regarding the issues raised herein remain ignored by the City and its law firm.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Overview

Petitioner Block's constitutional rights have been violated by an agency that has a long history of hiding public records and conspiring to harm citizens who request public records. This case involved misconduct by the City and its law firm and a conspiracy to harm Petitioner's professional reputation in the community where she lives, pays taxes and maintains an office.

By allowing an agency to file an Ex-Parte Motion only after receiving a Notice of Unavailability effectively chills a citizen's challenge to an agency's conduct pursuant to RCW 42.56 and amounts to a SLAPP. As it stands, the Block decision creates a substantial deterrent to average citizens who have been denied access to records and who may have no

recourse but to challenge an agency's action in court. What average citizen can afford to defend against a government funded agency's well-staffed law firm's SLAPP. If Petitioner Block had been afforded her constitutional right to be notified and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, Petitioner would have filed an Anti-SLAPP Motion, but King and Beavers decided the best way to handle a public records requester was to file motions only after being notified that Petitioner was unavailable. As of the date of this filing, the City of Gold Bar has misappropriated over \$700,000.00 hiding public records at various law firms. Petitioner as a taxpayer and an advocate for social justice will continue to seek access to public records pursuant to RCW 42.56.

In this case, basic provisions of the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution were violated and do not comport with basic due process rights guaranteed by the United States and Washington Constitutions. Unless significant aspects of the decision are reversed, Petitioner stands for the proposition that the agency has a right to decide what a citizen should have a right to know, and encourages an agency to file motions which amount to a SLAPP.

2. The Block Court Rewrote Washington Court Rule 45 Which Mandates Physical Service of Subpoenas

By erring in its analysis in a manner that chills citizen challenges

to improper withholding of records and favors resistant agencies, the Court of Appeals Block decision turns back the clock in the evolution of what due process is due to a citizen when a state actor is a government entity. Petitioner Block submits that the Court of Appeals decision rewrites Washington Court Rule 45 which mandates that all subpoenas' be physically served upon a deponent. More importantly, and certainly relevant in this case, is the failure of the agency to give Petitioner Notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard was violated by the same agency that has a lot to lose if it's wrongdoing is released.

This Supreme Court repeatedly and firmly held that a right to notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard is not only an essential requirement of due process, but it's a fundamental right that applies to civil as well as criminal proceedings. The Block decision chips away at basic due process and if allowed to stand will trickle down to trial courts and agencies, and encourage agencies to file Motions after being notified of a requester's unavailability. Petitioner respectfully submits that the Block decision frustrates the purpose of RCW 42.56 by weakening its fundamental provisions that places the burden on the agency not the requester in public records cases. Allowing an agency to file motions only after being notified of unavailability and violate basic mandates of CR 45, adversely affects the public interest and will encourage an agency to file

SLAPP suits instead of complying with RCW 42.56.

3. Affirmation of Key Principles of Due Process Requirements . Must be Enforced by this Court in Civil Matters

A review of this case is fundamental and necessary precondition to the sound governance of a "free society," and the Petitioner Block's case speaks to how agencies will punish and deter citizens from bringing an agency to task and further stifles "continuing confidence in . . . governmental processes," to "assure that the public interest will be fully compensated for bringing actions challenging agencies.

The purpose of the public records act is to ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them. RCW 42.17.251; *Newman v. King County*, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570, 947 P.2d 712 (1997); *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994); *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998).

Virtually every legislative modification of the already stringent Act has been to strengthen the policy of open government, by strengthening the punitive and deterrent aspects of the Act. Under *Block*, the trial court's record may now be arbitrarily be ignored by the Court of Appeals, and the burden is now on the requester to prove that her actions, not the agency's action, are reasonable under RCW 42.56.

•

F. CONCLUSION

The public's interest in open government, as reflected by the facts of this case, began with a legitimate records request concerning the City of Gold Bar's law firm of Kenyon Disend charging the taxpayers for services rendered to a non-client. The Respondent decided the best way to handle the public records request was to meet and conspire to harm Petitioner's professional reputation and "aggressively attack" Petitioner instead of complying with RCW 42.56. As of the date of this filing, the City of Gold Bar still does not have a public records policy in place and continues to allow public officials to use their personal email address for government business. The Mayor himself not only communicates with news sources but actively writes defamatory articles about Petitioner on his blogs in attempts to defame the professional reputation of a citizen who is only guilty of exposing the corruption inside a county and a city where she lives, works and pays taxes.

Such precedent if allowed to stand would not only frustrate RCW 42.56 beyond *Block*, it would encourage an agency to file SLAPPs to evade public disclosure and violate the civil rights of the citizens they are paid to protect.

The Petitioner respectfully submits this case must be reviewed as it violates basic due process requirements that guarantees a citizen's right

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