I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND INTRODUCTION 

Respondent City of Gold Bar ("Gold Bar" or "City") asks this 

Court to deny review of the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals 

designated in Section II ofthis Answer. Anne Block's ("Block") Petition 

for Review ("Petition") fails to address, let alone satisfy, the criteria 

governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13 .4(b ). 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is wholly consistent with 

established case law, and does not present any matter of substantial public 

interest justifying review here. This Court should uphold the Court of 

Appeals' well-reasoned decision, and deny Block's Petition. 

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Division I of the Court of Appeals filed its decision on September 

23, 2013, unanimously affirming the trial court's dismissal of yet another 

of Block's several Public Records Act ("PRA") lawsuits. A copy of the 

decision of the Court of Appeals is included in Block's Appendix 

submitted with her Petition. 

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Should review be denied where RAP 13 .4(b )( 1) and (2) are 

unsatisfied because the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals is 

fully consistent with the decisions of this Court and other divisions of the 
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Court of Appeals? 

B. Should this Court deny review where RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) 

are unsatisfied because the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals 

is fact-specific and does not involve any issue of substantial public 

interest? 

IV. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION 

A. Block Files Suit in the Trial Court. 

On November 11, 2011, Block served the City with a Summons and 

Complaint alleging violations of the PRA, Chapter 42.56 RCW. CP 316 -

317. Continuing what had by then become a well-established pattern, Block 

on November 14, 2011 filed a Notice of Unavailability claiming that she 

would be "unavailable and out-of-state on a family emergency" from 

December 14,2011 to January 7, 2012. 1 CP 314. 

Block served discovery on the City electronically on November 11 

and November 17, and stated that she would seek to depose the Mayor and a 

councilmember in early to mid-December. CP 233. In an effort to 

streamline the discovery process, the City e-mailed Block on November 18, 

indicating that the City would "agree to accept service electronically of these 

discovery documents, as well as all pleading in this case, if you agree to do 

1 It is unclear to the City how Block could foresee that a "family emergency" would 
occur one full month after the date of her Notice of Unavailability. 
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the same." CP 238-240. 

Within minutes Block responded, "I will accept service 

electronically." CP 238. 

The City prepared a Notice of Deposition scheduling Block's 

deposition for December 1, 2011 at 10:00 a.m., well in advance of the 

December 14, 2011 commencement of her period of claimed unavailability. 

On November 19 (a Saturday), at 1:08 p.m., the City's process server 

attempted previously arranged service on Block at her residence in Gold Bar. 

CP 32- 33. The following Monday, November 21, the City served Block 

with the deposition notice by e-mail, pursuant to Block's written agreement 

of November 18 to accept e-mail service. CP 238 - 240. 

The next day, November 22, the City learned that Block had 

requested that the Snohomish County Prosecutor reschedule a previously 

scheduled sufficiency hearing on Block's recall petition against Gold Bar 

Mayor Joe Beavers from December 2 to December 1, 2011 at 9:30a.m.- a 

half hour prior to the time that the City had noted Block's deposition to 

begin.2 Upon learning of the conflict between the scheduled deposition and 

the sufficiency hearing on Block's recall petition, and in order to 

accommodate both proceedings, the City immediately served Block on 

2 Block requested that the sufficiency hearing be rescheduled from December 2 to 
December I to accommodate claimed "prior legal engagements." CP 260 - 261. 
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November 22, 20 II with an Amended Notice of Deposition, voluntarily 

changing the time of the December 1 deposition from IO:OO a.m. to I:30 

p.m. CP 267- 273; 288-289. 

On November 2I, 20I2, the same day that the City served Block 

with its first Notice of Deposition, Block filed a second Notice of 

Unavailability, dated November I9, 2011, stating she would be out of the 

area from November 21, 20I1 to November 24,2011.3 

Also on November 21, Block e-mailed City Attorney Margaret King 

regarding the deposition scheduling, stating, "As you know my life has been 

threatened; I will remain unavailable until January 2012, only working from 

my laptop and by a secured telephone line." CP 38. Block later responded 

that "[u]nless its [sic] by telephone, its [sic] not going to happen. I sent you 

notice .... " CP 39. Block did not seek a protective order. 

Block failed to appear for her deposition on December 1, 2011. In 

response, the City filed a motion to compel Block's attendance, and for 

3 Although Block claims to have served the City with the new Notice of Unavailability on 
November 19, the City did not receive it until November 22, 20 II. Also, the envelope in 
which the Notice was mailed was postmarked November 21. CP 42 - 44. Further, e
mails obtained from the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office reveal that, in separate 
litigation against Snohomish County, Block had noted the deposition of a county 
employee for November 22, 20 II - a date on which she claimed to the City that she 
would be unavailable because she was "out of the area" until November 24. !d.; CP 47-
48. It should also be noted that on November 19, the same day Block claims to have filed 
and served her November 21 - 24 "unavailability," she e-mailed the County to demand 
that a deposition that she scheduled for November 22, 2012 be conducted by telephone, 
not because she was out of the area, but because of an alleged "death threat" by the 
deponent. CP 50. 
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sanctions for her willful and deliberate failure to appear. CP 286 - 298. In 

addition to thee-mails from Block referenced above, the City's Motion for 

Costs, Expenses and Fees, and Motion to Compel was supported by the 

Declaration of Councilmember Chris Wright, who testified that he had twice 

encountered Block dining out in public, during the same time period in 

which Block had claimed that "my life has been threatened and will not be 

making no [sic] in person appearances." CP 67, 207-285. The City served 

its motion on Block by e-mail on December 12, 2011. CP 204 - 206, 23 8, 

298. Block did not file a response to the City's motion. 

On December 20, Commissioner Gibbs granted the City's motion. 

The Order required Block to appear for deposition on January 9, 2012, and 

awarded the City its costs and fees expended in preparing for the December 

1 deposition, as well as those expended in preparing the motion. The Order 

further authorized the City to present an attorneys' fees affidavit to the Ex 

Parte Department on December 30, 2011 (within 10 days of the date of the 

Order). CP 75 - 76. 

Block was served by e-mail and regular mail with a copy of 

Commissioner Gibbs' Order on December 20, 2011, the same day it was 

issued. CP 60 - 61. Block acknowledged receipt of the Order, by e-mail on 

December 22, 2011. CP 78. 
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The City provided Block with a copy of its requested fees and 

proposed order by e-mail on December 29, 2011. CP 185- 197. Although 

Block does not dispute that she received the documents and notice of the ex 

parte presentation, Block did not appear or respond. The City presented its 

fee affidavit to the Ex Parte Department on December 30. Commissioner 

Pro Tern Corrigan entered an Order Awarding City of Gold Bar's Costs, 

Expenses and Fees in the amount of $7,049.10 against Block to be paid at or 

before the date and time of her deposition scheduled for January 9, 2012. CP 

198 - 200. The Order further authorized the City to set a show cause hearing 

if Block failed to pay, and also specified that, in the absence of good cause, 

the case would be dismissed. ld 
Block appeared for her deposition on January 9. When asked 

whether she had brought payment, she replied, "I did not, I will not. I will be 

appealing to the Washington State Court of Appeals." CP 86 at 7:13- 17. 

When asked why she did not bring payment as required by the court's Order, 

she replied, "Because it was an unlawful filing." Jd at 7:19. Block 

disagreed that Commissioner Gibbs' use of the word "shall" in the Order 

was mandatory rather than discretionary, and claimed that she retained the 

right to appeal Commissioner Gibbs' Order. CP 88 at 15:8 - 17. Block 

further asserted that Superior Court orders are invalid until after expiration of 

an appeal period. ld at 16:17- 19. 
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On January 9, 2012, Block filed yet another Notice of Unavailability, 

dated January 5, 2012, stating that she would be "out of the country and thus 

unavailable from January 18 to January 25, 2012." CP 181. Despite this 

claimed "unavailability," on January 19, 2012, Block filed an untimely 

"Motion to Modify" the Commissioner's ruling,4 a full thirty days following 

the date of Commissioner Gibbs' Order and twenty days after Commissioner 

Pro Tern Corrigan's Order.5 CP 161 - 180. On the same day, Block also 

filed a Notice of Discretionary Appeal of Commissioner Gibbs' Order. CP 

159. 

On January 27, 2012, and consistent with Commissioner Pro Tern 

Corrigan's Order, the City moved for an order of dismissal with prejudice. 

CP 151- 157. The City courteously scheduled the hearing on its motion for 

the same date that Block had set her motion to modify. CP 131, 177. On 

February 3, 2012, after hearing oral argument on both motions, the 

Honorable Linda C. Krese denied Block's Motion to Modify as untimely. 

Judge Krese then found Block to be in contempt of court for willfully 

violating the Commissioner's Order, that Block's action had prejudiced the 

4 Block's motion is correctly known as a "motion for revision" pursuant to RCW 
2.24.050. The timing of Block's motion is a good example of the pattern she regularly 
follows, first filing Notices of Unavailability and then shortly thereafter filing her own 
motions, lawsuits, and/or public record requests during the time that she purports to be 
"unavailable." CP 161-172. 
5 RCW 2.24.050 requires a motion for revision to be filed within .!.Q days from the date of 
the order. Failure to file within that time period deprives the Superior Court of 
jurisdiction. 
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City, and that lesser sanctions would not be adequate. Her Honor 

accordingly dismissed Block's lawsuit. CP 22. 

B. Block Appeals to the Court of Appeals. 

On Block's appeal to Division I ofthe Court of Appeals, the Court 

unanimously affirmed the superior court's decision in an unpublished 

decision. See Petition, Appendix A (Block v. City of Gold Bar, No. 

68163-0-1/Consold. w/ No. 68561-9-1, slip op. (Div. I, 2013) ("Block")). 

The Court of Appeals first noted that Block's briefing was inadequate on 

several bases: (1) Block failed to cite to the record contrary to RAP 

1 0.3(a)(5); (2) Block relied on facts outside of the Court's record; and (3) 

Block failed to clearly identify the basis of her challenges to the various 

trial court orders. ld. at 6. 

The Court of Appeals next found that Block had misrepresented 

the standard of review. Unlike the underlying PRA issues, which are 

reviewed de novo under ordinary circumstances, this case was dismissed 

as a discovery sanction. The Court of Appeals accordingly found the 

proper standard to be whether the trial court exercised its discretion in a 

manifestly unreasonable manner or on untenable grounds. Id. at 7. 

After applying the proper standard, the Court of Appeals found 

that the trial court had not improperly exercised its discretion by entering 

the discovery orders and ultimately dismissing Block's suit. Further, the 
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Court determined that Block had failed to assign error to any of the trial 

court's findings of facts or conclusions of law and had failed to establish 

any abuse of discretion on behalf of the trial court. !d. at I 0. 

C. Block's Erratic Behavior Continues. 

Even after the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal, Block's later actions emphasize the very reasons dismissal was 

proper. 

On September 16, 2013, Block filed a Motion to Include 

Additional Evidence, in which she alleged new irrelevant and unsupported 

"facts. "6 

Then, after the Ports of Tacoma and Olympia filed a motion to 

publish with the Court of Appeals on October 15, 2013, Block, without 

being requested to do so, filed a Response and a Motion to Strike the Port 

of Tacoma's Motion to Publish on October 22, 2013. 7 Block served both 

pleadings on the City via e-mail. Block again alleged irrelevant and 

unsupported "facts." Block also proclaimed that she "has already 

6 Block served her September 16,2013 motion on the City by fax. The Court denied her 
motion. 
7 Block filed two pleadings that day- one entitled "Appellant Anne Block's Response to 
Port of Tacoma's Motion to Publish in Favor of Appellant's Motion to Strike Pursuant to 
Washington State's Anti-SLAPP, RCW 4.24.525 and in Favor of Costs, Sanction, Fees, 
Expenses for Having to Answer an Untimely Filed Motion"; and one entitled "Appellant 
Anne Block's Special Motion to Strike Port of Tacoma's Motion to Publish in Favor of 
Appellant's Motion to Strike Pursuant to Washington State's Anti-SLAPP, RCW 
4.24.525 and in Favor of Costs, Sanction, Fees, Expenses for Having to Answer an 
Untimely Filed Motion." Both pleadings are essentially the same. 
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submitted declarations to this Court affirming that she is withdrawing this 

case to pursue a 42 USC 1983/1988 complaint in US Fed. District Court as 

a more appropriate avenue based on advice of counsel . . . . "8 

The very next day, October 23, 2013 -the day her Petition for 

Review was due9 - Block sent an e-mail to the City stating, "Since you 

refused to accept electronic service in this Petition to be filed with the Div. 

I today, a hard copy will be placed in USPS today." The City did not 

receive Block's Petition until five days later. 

As discussed in detail below and contrary to her assertion that she 

"submitted declarations to this Comt affirming that she is withdrawing this 

case," 10 Block's Petition not only contains additional unsupported factual 

assertions, but it also fails to address any of the criteria for a Petition for 

Review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). 

V. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW 

This Court should deny discretionary review because Block's 

Petition fails to satisfy the criteria for accepting review in RAP 13.4(b). 

A. Criteria Governing Acceptance of Discretionary Review. 

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the 

8 Block's Response and Motion at 5 (Block failed to provide page numbers to her 
response and motion). 
9 It is unclear whether the due date of Block's Petition for Review was shifted pursuant to 
RAP 13.4(a) since the Ports' motion to publish was not ruled timely until after the 
Petition deadline would have passed. 
10 /d. 

-10-



Supreme Court only: 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution 
of the State of Washington or of the United States is 
involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

Block's Petition does not cite to RAP 13.4(b), and her "Issues 

Presented for Review" do not include discussion of the criteria included in 

RAP 13 .4(b ). Rather, her Petition appears merely to restate the legal 

arguments unsuccessfully offered to both the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals. Block's failure to even address, let alone satisfy, RAP 13.4(b) is 

by itself sufficient basis for this Court to deny review. 

To the extent that this Court proceeds, the City offers the following 

additional argument. 

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is Consistent with 
Decisions of This Court and Other Divisions of the Court of 
Appeals. 

Block states, without citation, that: 

Basic constitutional principles are at stake in 
this case and are not only necessary to a 
[sic] sustain a free democratic and open 
government here in Washington but are 
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basic fundamental guaranteed rights secured 
under Washington and the United States 
Constitutions: (1) the fundamental right of 
the public to know the workings of their 
government through public records requests 
made under the Public Disclosure Act, RCW 
42.17 .250, et set.,; and (2) the right of a 
citizen to be afforded noticed [sic] and a 
meaningful opportunity to be heard prior to 
any judgment entered into the record. 11 

Petition at 2 (emphasis in original). Block also argues that the Block 

decision "rewrites Washington Court Rule 45 which mandates that all 

subpoenas' [sic] be physically served upon a deponent." Petition at 10. In 

reviewing Block's Petition, however, the City is unable to identify any 

portion in which Block actually identifies a conflict with other appellate 

decisions, as opposed to her mere disagreement with the decision of the 

Court of Appeals below. "Where contentions raised on appeal are not 

supported by citation of authority [this Court] will not consider them 

unless well taken on their face." Griffin v. Dept. of Social and Health 

Svcs., 91 Wn.2d 616, 630, 590 P.2d 816 (1979) (citing State v. Kroll, 87 

Wn.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)). Block merely announces that due 

process requires notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, but then 

fails to explain how or why the decision is in conflict with precedent. 

11 Block cites to the former Public Disclosure Act, RCW 42.17, which was recodified in 
2006 in Chapter 42.56 RCW, and renamed the "Public Records Act." The City will refer 
to Chapter 42.56 RCW or the "PRA" for purposes of this Answer. 
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Petition at 5. 

The City has no quarrel with the general principles of due process 

law as announced by Block, and the Court of Appeals certainly did not 

overturn those principles below. 

Block simply misstates the Court of Appeals' holding. The Block 

court did not find that Block was not entitled to due process. Instead, in 

response to Block's arguments regarding the violation of CR 45, the Block 

court found: 

Block's reliance on CR 45 is unavailing ... 
Block, as the plaintiff, was entitled to 
"reasonable notice in writing" of her 
deposition. CR 30(b)(l). Only a party 
seeking to compel the attendance of a 
deponent who is not a party of managing 
agent of a party is required to serve a 
subpoena on that deponent in accordance 
with CR 45. CR 30(b)(l). Block cites no 
authority supporting her claim that the City 
was required to use a subpoena. The City's 
attempt to personally serve Block with 
notice and a subpoena does not establish that 
compliance with CR 45 was mandatory. 

Block, at 8 - 9. Furthermore, in response to Block's arguments that the 

City impermissibly noted motions during Block's claimed unavailability, 

the Court found: 

Due process requires only that a party 
receive proper notice of proceedings and an 
opportunity to present his or her position to 
the court. Here, the City filed and served its 
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motion for sanctions and to compel on 
December 12, before Block's period of 
unavailability began. Block failed to 
respond to the motion in any manner. She 
did not request an extension of time to 
respond, seek to continue the hearing, nor 
request to participate by telephone ... Block 
had an opportunity to present her position 
and have the trial court consider it. Due 
process requires no more. 

Block, at 9 - 10 (citations omitted). 

"Procedural due process is not a fixed standard, but a relative 

concept changing in form case by case, providing that process of law 

which is due in each circumstance." Reilly v. State, 18 Wn. App. 245, 

250, 566 P.2d 1283 (Div. III, 1977) (citations omitted). Here, Block does 

not contend that she did not receive notice, only that the City was legally 

bound by her notices of unavailability, and that any action by the City 

during her unavailability violated due process. 12 Despite her assertions, 

Block had an opportunity to be heard- she simply did not take it. Block's 

own failures do not establish a due process violation. Thus, the Court of

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